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	Town/City:  
Georgetown

	Place: (neighborhood or village):



Town Center




	Address:  1 Andover Street


	Historic Name:  George & Clarissa Spofford House

	Uses:
Present: 
single residence

	Original: 
single residence

	Date of Construction:  
1846

	Source:  town records, historic maps, plaque


	Style/Form:   
Greek Revival

	Architect/Builder:  
unknown

	Exterior Material:

	Foundation:  
brick

	Wall/Trim:  
vinyl clapboards

	Roof:  
asphalt shingles

	Outbuildings/Secondary Structures:  


Barn (attached)

	Major Alterations (with dates):  


Wing added N side


Awning windows added S side

Barn altered into garage w/ living unit above


Vinyl clapboard siding added



	Condition:  
good

	Moved:  no  FORMCHECKBOX 
 
yes  FORMCHECKBOX 
     Date:


	Acreage:  0.26 acres

	Setting:   This house is set on a slight rise at the northwest corner of Andover and Clark Street in the governmental enter of the village, an area of mixed residential, commercial, and institutional uses.



 FORMCHECKBOX 
 Recommended for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.  


If checked, you must attach a completed National Register Criteria Statement form.
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION    

The George & Clarissa Spofford House is located on the west side of Andover Street at the intersection with Clark Street.  The house is comprised of three sections: a two-story, front-gable roof house facing Andover Street with a one-story rear ell and a two-story connected barn.  The three-bay front façade has an entrance offset on the south side with a doorway recessed within a trabeated architrave.  The front gable is finished as a pediment with a full bed at the base, although the entablature has been somewhat obscured by vinyl siding.  A single window is centered in the pediment.  This window, as well as windows on the first story, have surrounds with panelized headers and blocks in the upper corners.  This detail is absent on the second story windows, the tops of which abut the roof frieze.  A two-story, cross-gable wing has been added to the north side of the house and awning windows have been added at the front of the south Clark Street side where the interior staircase is located.  

A one-story ell is appended to the rear of the house.  About the same width as the house, it is recessed on the south side and projects out on the north side.  Entrances into both the ell and the house are contained within a small porch in the southeast corner.  A shallow, beveled-corner bay window occupies one of the two window spaces west of the doors on the south façade; there are two gable-roof dormers in the roof that probably are later additions.  On the north side of the house, the eastern half of the ell’s roof has been raised and bumped out, an alteration that is depicted in the 1887 bird’s-eye view of the town.  A gable dormer has been added to this part of the roof.

The ell is attached to a barn in the manner of connected buildings, which are common in Georgetown.  The two-story building has a gable roof in line with the roofs of the other sections.  This building also was depicted in the 1887 view but not on the 1872 town map.  It has been renovated to contain two garage stalls on the first floor with two overhead doors on the Clark Street side, and domestic space on the second floor with domestic windows added on three sides.  Glass doors on the east end open onto a small balcony.
The house is sited on a terrace elevated above Andover Street and Clark Street, which slopes uphill so that the garage doors in the barn are at grade.  There is a narrow yard on the north side of the house and a larger open area in the rear that extends back to Middle Street.  A solid wood fence has been erected around the periphery of the yard with the exception of the Andover Street side, which is bordered by a metal picket fence.

The George & Clarissa Spofford House, built in 1846, is a distinctive example of Greek Revival-style domestic architecture in the Georgetown and is sufficiently intact to be a contributing property in the village district.
HISTORICAL NARRATIVE    

The house at 1 Andover Street was built in 1846 for merchant, express agent, and railroad agent George Spofford (1797-1873) and his wife Clarissa Thurston Spofford (1802-82), both of them descended from early settlers of Georgetown, initially Rowley Second Parish or West Parish or New Rowley. George Spofford was descended from John Spafford, who was living on what has long been known as Spofford’s Hill in Georgetown by 1669; Sergeant Daniel Thurston of Newbury owned land in what became Georgetown as early as 1714.
 George Spofford was the last of eleven children of Dr. Amos Spofford (1751-1805), the first physician to practice in New Rowley. 
George Spofford married Clarissa Thurston in March 1819, but the couple appears to have lived on other Spofford or Thurston  family land at that time. Like the Spoffords, the Thurstons owned land on Spofford’s Hill, south of Andover Street, and one 1892 family history states that Clarissa Thurston Spofford “lives upon lands owned by a long and distinguished line of ancestors, but who left the neighborhood of Spofford’s hill about the close of the revolutionary war. She came to one of the old Thurston homesteads in 1819, and has resided near it ever since.”

In July 1845 Clarissa Spofford acquired ten rods of land that had earlier belonged to Samuel Brown, “supposed to be deceased,” and that had been left to him as an heir of “Mehitable Burbank or her husband,” Samuel Burbank, who had died of smallpox in 1777 in the town’s pest house after returning from Revolutionary War service; the 1800 map of Georgetown center shows his name on the land on the northwest side of Central Street between West Main and Andover Streets. The Spofford house, built the next year, is at the southeast corner of this parcel.
 
The 1856 Georgetown map labels the house on this site “G. Spofford,” and the 1860 census show Spofford as a sixty-three-year-old farmer with $1600 in real property. He shared the house with his wife, eleven-year-old Martha L. Spofford, and the shoe manufacturer Samuel Little, who lived in the house until he died in 1883.
 By 1870 Spofford, who had run the express agency from Georgetown to Boston for thirteen years and was afterward station agent on the Georgetown and Newburyport Railroad, had retired, and three years later he died. His widow Clarissa remained in the house until her death in May 1882.
In June 1883 Clarissa Spofford’s heirs sold the 1 Andover Street property to livery owner Jophanus Adams for $1325, who sold it the next day to Henry Prescott Chaplin for $1500.
 Chaplin (1816-95), one of Georgetown’s prominent shoe manufacturers, was the son of Captain Eliphalet Chaplin and his wife Martha Spofford, the latter of whom was a cousin of George Spofford, Chaplin probably bought the property in anticipation of the marriage of his daughter Alice to shoe manufacturer Hiram Howard Noyes; they were married in June 1884. Noyes’s father Hiram Newton Noyes had been in business with Samuel Little; his mother was Caroline Matilda Chaplin, Henry P. Chaplin’s sister. The 1884 map of Georgetown center shows H. H. Noyes as the owner of the former Spofford house at 1 Andover Street, but both 1884 and 1900 directories mistakenly list his address as Central Street.  
In May 1907 Alice Chaplin Noyes, H. H. Noyes’s wife, deeded her interest in the George Spofford house at 1 Andover Street to her brother, Laurence (sometimes Lawrence) Leslie Chaplin, who like her had inherited the property from their father Henry P. Chaplin.
 Born in June 1855, Laurence L. Chaplin began his career as a cutter in his father’s shoe shop, H. P. Chaplin, which by 1880 employed twenty-five people full time and manufactured boots and shoes worth more than $29,000; his was one of the largest of the six boot and shoe factories in Georgetown at the time.

By 1900 Laurence L. Chaplin was living in the house with his sister Alice and her husband H. H. Noyes. When his father’s business ceased about 1900, Chaplin became foreman in the stitching room at G. W. Chaplin Company, founded by his uncle in 1872 and managed by H. H. Noyes; in 1900 Noyes became sole owner of the company. By 1909 Noyes had taken Laurence Chaplin and his brother Wilfred into G. W. Chaplin Company.
In 1906 Laurence Chaplin married Susan Noyes Tenney Falconer, a widow and Georgetown native, the daughter of Milton G. Tenney and Augusta Noyes. By 1910 the couple was living at 1 Andover Street with Susan Chaplin’s son Charles M. Falconer, then twelve, and a domestic servant. Laurence Chaplin seems to have left G. W. Chaplin by 1916, and by 1920 he was working as a bank cashier. Susan Chaplin died in 1926, and in 1930 Chaplin shared the house with Elizabeth M. Noyes, a onetime teacher at Perley Free School and one of his cousins, a daughter of Hiram Newton Noyes. 
Lawrence Chaplin died in February 1940, and a little more than a year later his stepson Charles M. Falconer sold the property to Lynn social worker Nathalie B. Upton, who owned but may never had occupied the house; in 1948, when she still owned it, she was living in Boston’s West End and working for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and she died in Ohio in 1970.
 In 1962 Upton sold 1 Andover Street to Robert C. and Joan C. Hill, and the property changed hands eight more times before June 1996, when current owner Richard A. Coco acquired it.
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National Register of Historic Places Criteria Statement Form

Check all that apply:

 FORMCHECKBOX 
  Individually eligible             FORMCHECKBOX 
   Eligible only in a historic district
 FORMCHECKBOX 
  Contributing to a potential historic district          FORMCHECKBOX 
  Potential historic district
Criteria:       FORMCHECKBOX 
   A        FORMCHECKBOX 
    B        FORMCHECKBOX 
    C     FORMCHECKBOX 
    D

Criteria Considerations:       FORMCHECKBOX 
   A      FORMCHECKBOX 
    B      FORMCHECKBOX 
   C     FORMCHECKBOX 
   D      FORMCHECKBOX 
    E      FORMCHECKBOX 
    F       FORMCHECKBOX 
    G

                   Statement of Significance by________Neil Larson_________________

                            The criteria that are checked in the above sections must be justified here.
 The George & Clarissa Spofford House, built in 1846 is a distinctive example of Greek Revival-style domestic architecture in the Georgetown and is sufficiently intact to be a contributing property in the village district.
� A Genealogical Record of John Spofford and Elizabeth Scott, online at Georgetown Historical Society website, http://www.georgetownhistoricalsociety.com/GtGen/johnspoffordregister6c.html; Jeremiah Spofford, A Family Record of the Descendants of John Spofford (Haverhill: E. G. Frothingham, 1869), 36; Brown Thurston, Thurston Genealogies 1635-1892, 2d ed. (Portland, ME: Brown Thurston, 1892), 71. According to Jeremiah Spofford, the emigrant John Spofford “was without doubt the first settler in Georgetown, and the progenitor of all of the name in the United States and Canada; and also of most of the Harrimans and Brocklebanks, and many of the Nelsons, Chaplins and Tenneys of Georgetown; also many of the Kimballs, Haseltines, Hopkinsons, Parkers, Burbanks and Woods of Bradford and Groveland; and many of the Peabodys, Kimballs and Adamses of Boxford.”


� Thomas Payson to Clarissa T. Spofford, 22 July 1845, SED 357:105.


� Samuel Little was born about 1807 in Haverhill, the son of William and Mary Little of Newbury; his relation if any to better-known Georgetown boot and shoe manufacturers and brothers Joseph and Benjamin Little (the sons of Joseph and Mary Little of West Newbury) is not known. According to historian Benjamin  Arrington, ““It was in 1831 that Samuel Little, another man famous in the annals of Georgetown's history, began to manufacture shoes; but two years later (1832) he took Hiram N. Noyes (the father of George W., H. Howard and Miss Elizabeth M. Noyes) in as a partner, and, under the firm name of Little & Noyes, the business was carried on successfully for several years, when the partnership was dissolved and the business continued for twenty-five years by Little & Moulton, the leading manufacturing concern in the town.” See Arrington, ed., Municipal History of Essex County in Massachusetts (New York: Lewis Historical Publishing Co., 1922), 254.


� Jennie S. Morrill, Georgetown; Amos L. Spofford and George J. Spofford, Georgetown: and Judith Parker, Spencer, to Jophanus Adams, 28 June 1883, SED 1111:51; Jophanus Adams to Henry P. Chaplin, 29 June 1883, SED 1111:52.


� Alice C. Noyes to Lawrence L. Chaplin, 17 May 1907, SED 1873:64.


� Charles M. Falconer, Concord NH, to Nathalie Upton, Lynn, 11 June 1941, SED 3260:278; Nathalie Upton to Robert C. and Joan C. Hill, 26 October 1962, SED 5004:174; David P. and Kimberlee E. Campbell to Richard A. Coco, 11 June 1996, SED 13618:244.
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